IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-121 LT No. 01-1977-CF232-A

STEVEN TODD BOOKER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harry P. Brody Florida Bar No. 0977860

Jeffrey M. Hazen Florida Bar No. 0153060

Brody & Hazen, PA
P. O. Box 16515
Tallahassee, Florida 32317
850.942.0005
Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

1. Procedural History

On December 2, 1977, Appellant was indicted for the November 9, 1977 murder, sexual battery, and burglary of Lorine Demoss Harmon. (PCR. 001) Subsequently, on June 21, 1978, a jury found Appellant guilty on all three counts and, in a penalty phase proceeding, recommended that Appellant be put to death by a 9 to 3 majority. Id.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. Booker v. State, 397 So. 2d, 910 (Fla. 1981) The U.S. Supreme Court denied Mr. Booker's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Booker v. Florida, 454 U.S. 957 (1981) Subsequently, in the initial post-conviction proceedings, the Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's holding that Hitchcock entitled Mr. Booker to a new penalty phase trial.

Booker v. Dugger, 922 F 2d 633 (11th Cir. 1991) Cert. Denied, 502 U.S. 900 (1991); relying on Hitchcock v. Dugger, 381 U.S. 393 (1987).

While Mr. Booker's new penalty phase trial was pending the State unsuccessfully sought to have the 11^{th} Circuit Court of Appeals vacate the remand based upon the authority of <u>Brecht v.</u> Abrahamson; 507 U.S. 619, (1993).

In 1998, at the re-sentencing trial, the State again sought to sentence Mr. Booker to death. The jury recommended a death

sentence by an 8 to 4 margin, and the Florida Supreme affirmed the Circuit Court's imposition of the death penalty. Booker v. State, 773 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 2000); Cert. Denied, Booker v. Florida, 121 S. Ct. 1989 (2001)

The instant post-conviction proceeding challenging the death sentence imposed after the second trial was timely instigated by the filing of the Rule 3.850/1 Motion, and the Circuit Court's denial of Mr. Booker's claims therein, either summarily or after a limited evidentiary hearing on the <u>Weatherford issue</u>, is the subject of this appeal.

2. Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

On September 16, 2005, Mr. Booker was granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that, prior to trial, the state violated Appellant's right to due process and to a fair trial by surreptitiously intercepting and reading his communications with counsel and with various witnesses.

At the evidentiary hearing, Assistant State Attorney Grabel testified that he and State Attorney Rod Smith represented the State at the re-sentencing proceeding. (T. 10) Mr. Grabel denied knowing that a "mail cover" had been done on Mr. Booker. (T. 11) In fact, Mr. Grabel denied that he had ever used a mail cover or ever spoke to anyone who had used one. (T. 11) Still, Mr. Grabel explained that mail cover is a review of all of the mail coming into and going out from an inmate. (T. 12) Mail cover

is not a routine procedure, Mr. Grabel made clear, but is, rather, only instigated at the specific request of a party (T. 12) Mr. Grabel understood that, while he was preparing for trial, Appellant was incarcerated at Florida State Prison on death row. (T. 13) At times he may have been moved to the Alachua County Jail. Id. Futher, Mr. Grabel conceded that At all times Appellant was represented by Counsel.

Despite denying that a "mail cover" was done Mr. Grabel identified a memorandum to the Booker file by Mick Price. After reviewing the memorandum, Defense Exhibit "A", Mr. Grabel denied that there was a mail cover done on Mr. Booker's mail The Memorandum appears to request authority for institution of such a mail cover, but Grabel testified that the State declined. Grabel did admit that "obviously, there was a memo sent," directed to him, regarding issues including "the mail cover issue." (T. 19)

Grabel flat denied that he discussed mail cover with anyone or that it was used. (T. 19). As far as checking with the prison regarding possible witnesses for trial, Mr. Grabel testified that State Attorney Smith did that. (T. 34)

Rod Smith testified that he was in charge of the resentencing. (T. 38)

Prior to becoming the State Attorney, he had, as a private attorney, represented employees of the DOC. (T. 40) In that

capacity, he had become aware of "mail cover," which he defined as monitoring the mail of inmates. <u>Id</u>. However, he had no recollection of monitoring Appellant's mail. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Smith also testified that he didn't recall seeing the memorandum from Mr. Price regarding mail cover prior to preparing for the evidentiary hearing in 2005. (T. 43) He emphasized how weighty he'd consider a decision to use mail cover, so he believed that he'd have remembered the memorandum and any decision to proceed or not proceed. (T. 43)

Mr. Smith did provide the caveat that Mr. Grabel would have handled most of the documents, as he oversaw discovery issues and kept the files. (T. 44). Smith would have had to have given the "go ahead," however to institute mail cover. (T. 45)

Upon reviewing documents from the State Attorney's files stating that, in fact, mail cover was done by Mr. Price and that Mr. Price "picked up another collection of letters obtained under mail cover from FSP," Mr. Smith conceded that the documents indicate that mail cover was done. (T. 45). Smith did maintain, however, that mail cover was done without his knowledge. (T. 46) He did admit that there are circumstances under which he would do mail cover. Id. In other cases, he has used mail cover. Id.

He also wrote memoranda requesting the mail and Mr. Price identified the defense's exhibits as documents he generated. (T.

79-81) Upon review of the documents, Mr. Price clearly affirmed that mail cover was utilized by the State Attorney in Appellant's case. (T. 79-80)

Mr. Price also admitted that he collected the mail. (T. 81)

He then took the mail to the State Attorney's office. <u>Id</u>. He identified Rod Smith as the recipient of his memorandum regarding the mail cover (T. 82). Mr. Grabel also received a copy of the memo. Id.

According to Mr. Price, one memorandum provided:

On 4/11/97, while reviewing the above mail cover, I ran across a letter written by Booker to Betty V-O-G-H. (A Gainesvillian, who expects to be called as a witness) Which informs Vogh of "scuttlebutt" that the two officers ["...originator of the lies], hand up dress incident"], have received suspensions on an unrelated incident. (T. 83)

Mr. Price admitted that it is possible that he was reading the mail as part of his investigation and, after he reviewed the documents, his testimony is that this is what in fact happened. Undoubtedly, all actions he took would have been the result of specific assignments from Mr. Smith or Mr. Grabel. (T. 85)

Mr. Price anticipated and expected that his memoranda and work on the Booker case would be forwarded to Mr. Smith and Mr. Grabel. (T. 90) He also confirmed that, on 4/16/97, he picked up another packet of mail cover from the prison. (T. 91) Mr. Price further confirmed that he was

the author of the memorandum at issue and that he would have done the things which are discussed in the memorandum. (T. 93)

At the conclusion of Price's testimony, documents B, C, D, E, F and G were admitted as exhibits 2-8 sequentially. (T. 104-106) Thus, the documents which Price wrote regarding mail cover were admitted into evidence, with the Court noting that Mr. Price identified them as his.

The last witness, defense Attorney Kearns, testified that he would have objected to the State looking at any privileged mail ("Kearns would eat us alive if he found out."). (T. 120)

Mr. Kearns was never made aware that Mr. Price was picking up collections of Mr. Booker's mail obtained under mail cover. <u>Id</u>. Nor was Mr. Kearns advised that the state was reading mail from Appellant discussing trial witnesses such as Ms. Vogh. (T. 121)

Kearns testified that the memorandum regarding Price's mail cover indicated that "obviously" the State read some of Appellate's mail. (T. 122) Further, Kearns agreed with the court that "obviously either side would not like to expose...their strategy through the course of the trial." (T. 125)

3. The Hearing Court's Order

Despite the Price memoranda, the Hearing Court found that, as Mr. Grabel and Mr. Smith had testified, a mail cover was not done. The Court found that Mr. Grabel's testimony "completely refuted" the idea that Mr. Booker's legal mail was in anyway tampered with by anyone acting on behalf of the State (T. 158) The Court found that Price had told the prison there would be no mail cover. Id. Also, Mr. Grabel was in charge of the State Attorney's office's preparation. Further, the Court found Mr. Smith's denial credible. Id. The Court found Mr. Price "not quite as strong a witness" because he is older and his memory is perhaps not quite as good as it used to be. Id. Finally, the Court found that Attorney Kearns did not know that any mail from Appellant to him had been tampered with. (T. 139)

In sum, the court finds that "there is no evidence at all" that Appellant's mail was tampered with. (T. 139)

4. The Huff Order

The lower court denied the Appellant an evidentiary hearing on his remaining claims. (PCR. 0000119 et. seq.) Appellant will address each claim respectively in the text of the brief. As a general matter, he maintains that the claims, if the allegations are taken as true, are not rebutted by the record, and that the case should be remanded for a hearing on the remainder of Appellant's claims.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant respectfully requests that he be granted oral argument on his claims. He is unconstitutionally incarcerated under a sentence of death, and his convictions are tainted with constitutional infirmity. Thus, this Court should hear Appellant's contentions fully argued pursuant to the practice and rules of this Court.

REFERENCE KEY

"R" -- Record in Direct Appeal;

"R2" -- Record in Direct Appeal following remand;

"T" -- Transcript of Trial;

"T" -- Transcript of second penalty phase;

"PCR" -- Post-conviction record;

"PCR2) -- Evidentiary Hearing Transcript;

"EX" -- Post-conviction evidentiary hearing exhibit;

"P" -- page; and

"pp" -- pages.

Other citations will be identified to the extent necessary for clarification.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Argument I. The lower court erred in denying Appellant relief after the evidentiary hearing on his claim that the State improperly deprived Appellant to his rights to due process and to a fair trial under the Fourth, Sixth, and Fourteenth

Amendments. The State's review of Mr. Booker's communications with his attorney and trial witnesses by secretly operating a "mail cover" on Mr. Booker's mail deprived Appellant of a fair In Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 1997, the government acted affirmatively to intrude into Mr. Booker's attorney/client relationship and to obtain privileged information. The lower court erred in completely ignoring the evidence presented of the government's violation of Mr. Booker's right to prepare for trial. Thus, this Court should reverse the lower court's findings and remand the case for a hearing in which the government will have the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that it did not use the illicitly obtained information, that all of the evidence it used at trail was derived from independent sources, and that all of its trial and pretrial strategy was based on independent and untainted sources.

Argument II. The lower court erred in summarily denying the remainder of Mr. Booker's 3850 claims without a hearing.

Mr. Booker's IAC Claim was sufficiently pled and the lower court erred in refusing to give him a hearing on his claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct a proper investigation and to locate and present a wealth of mitigation, especially information with which Appellant could have persuasively challenged the prior violent felony aggravator.

Much of this mitigation was specifically identified in the pleadings and the lower court's ruling fails to properly apply the legal standard for an evidentiary hearing for ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Again, Mr. Booker's claim regarding the counsel's failure to present evidence regarding the aggravator of prior violent felony is properly and specifically pled in the lower erred in failing to grant him an evidentiary hearing on this claim as well.

Also, Mr. Booker was erroneously denied a hearing on his claims that the cruel and unusual clause of the Eighth Amendment bars his execution because the thirty years that have thus far elapsed since the crime and the public's increasing interest in the progression of Mr. Booker's literary accomplishments.

Finally, Mr. Booker was improperly denied a hearing on his claim that his rights to Equal Protection and Due Process were violated by the Court's arbitrary and capricious jury instruction rules. In Hillsborough County, a penalty-phase jury was advised how long defendant would serve if given a life recommendation. However, Appellant was denied such an instruction, which clearly would have changed the outcome.

ARGUMENT I

The lower court erred in denying Appellant relief after the evidentiary hearing on his claim that the State improperly deprived Appellant to his rights to due process and a fair trial under the Fourth Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 1977, the State cannot methodically and knowingly violate an attorney-client privilege and utilizes that information at the trial to develop strategies and tactics that undercuts a defendant's right to due process. This Court must defer to the hearing court's factual findings to the extent that they are supported by competent, substantial evidence but must review de novo the hearing court's application of the law to those facts. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 1999); Philmore v. State, No. SC04-1036 (Fla. In sum, this Court conducts an independent de novo review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings and confirming that those factual findings are supported by the record. v. Reichmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000); Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2000); and Cave v. State, 899 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 2005)

After an initial showing by the Defendant that an intrusion has been made into the attorney/client relationship to obtain privileged information, the burden shifts to the government to

introduce evidence to show by a preponderance of the evidence that it did not use the privileged information and to specifically show that all of the evidence that it did introduce was derived from sources independent of the tainted source. United States v. Danielson, No. 01-30151 (9th Circuit 2003) (It is not enough to establish a prima facie case to show that the government informant was present at a meeting and passively received privileged information about trial strategy.) Briggs v. Goodwill, 698 F. 2d 486 (DST. of Columbia 1983) (Mere possession by the prosecution of otherwise confidential knowledge about defendant's strategy or position is sufficient in itself to establish detriment to criminal defendant; United States v. Mastroianni, 749 F. 2d 900 (1984) (A defense showing that a government agent learned privileged information about defense strategy shifts the burden to prosecution to prove that the Defendant was not prejudiced.)

A Weatherford violation is also a violation of Brady v.

Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and Giglio v. United States, 405

U.S. 150 (1972). Thus, the scope of "privileged information" is broader then protected attorney-client communication. The lower court erroneously reduces the question to whether that narrow privilege was violated. The dispositive question should be, instead whether an surreptitious government intrusion was used to unfair advantage.

2. THE LAW AND FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE

The evidentiary hearing was on its face limited to the question of the Court determining whether the initial governmental intrusion had occurred, and the Court expressly reserved ruling on the issue of the proper procedural test to apply thereafter. The lower court, however, concluded no mail cover occurred. Thus, this Court must determine whether the lower court erred in finding that no intrusion took place in the face of the clear record evidence that a mail cover was authorized and undertaken by the prosecution. Appellant contends that the record of the surreptitious government intrusion is beyond question.

The evidence of an intrusion is overwhelming. Assistant State Attorney Grabel testified that mail cover is not a routine procedure, but is only instigated at the specific request of a party (T. 12) Mr. Grabel also understood that, while both parties were preparing for trial, Appellant was incarcerated at Florida State Prison on death row. (T. 13) Id. Further, Mr. Grabel conceded that Appellant was represented by Counsel. In fact, the court clarified that Appellant had been represented "from the very beginning of the case." (T. 14)

Mr. Grabel identified a memorandum to the Booker file by Mick Price, an investigator working for the State Attorney's Office.

(T. 15). Mr. Grabel testified that Price had been a detective

with the Gainesville Police Department when he was involved with the apprehension and arrest of the Appellant. (T. 15)

Subsequently, in 1996, he was employed by Mr. Smith's office and Mr. Smith selected him to be the investigator on the resentencing case. Id.

After reviewing the memorandum, which was admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit "A", Mr. Grabel denied that there was a mail cover done on Mr. Booker's mail (The Memorandum appears to be requesting authority for such a mail cover.)

However, Mr. Grabel testified that the State declined. Mr. Grabel denied that the State Attorney's Office had collected or received any mail from Appellant. (T. 18) However, after seeing the Price memorandum, Grabel did admit that "obviously, there was a memo sent," directed to him, regarding issues including "the mail cover issue." (T. 19)

Mr. Grabel flatly denied that he discussed mail cover with anyone or that it was used. (T. 19) As far as checking with the prison regarding possible witnesses for trial, Mr. Grabel testified that State Attorney Smith did that. (T. 34)

(In deference to Mr. Smith's busy schedule as a State Senator, the cross-examination of Mr. Grabel was delayed until after Mr. Smith's testimony. Appellant will follow that order in this recapitulation.)

From State Attorney Rod Smith testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was in charge of the re-sentencing. (T. 38) He acknowledged that assistant state attorney Grabel worked on the case too (T. 39).

Mr. Smith was the state attorney for the Eighth Judicial Circuit at the time of the re-sentencing. (T. 40) Prior to assuming responsibility for the job, he had, as a private attorney, represented employees of the Department Of Corrections. (T. 40) In that capacity, he had become aware of the use and meaning of "mail cover," which is monitoring the mail of inmates under certain circumstances. <u>Id</u>. However, he had no recollection of monitoring Appellant's mail. Id.

Mr. Smith also testified that he didn't recall seeing Defense Exhibit 1, the memorandum from Mr. Price regarding mail cover, prior to preparing for the evidentiary hearing in 2005. (T. 43) Mr. Smith emphasized how weighty he'd consider a decision to use mail cover, so he believed that he'd have remembered the memorandum and any decision to proceed or not proceed with a mail cover on Appellant. (T. 43)

Mr. Smith added that Mr. Grabel would have handled the documents, doing the discovery and keeping the file. (T. 44) He believed that he would have had to authorize the go ahead, however. (T. 45)

Upon reviewing documents from the State Attorney's trial files indicating that, in fact, a mail cover was done on Appellant and that Mr. Price "picked up another collection of letters obtained under mail cover from FSP," Mr. Smith conceded that those documents would indicate that mail cover was done. (T. 45). Thereafter, Smith testified that the mail cover was done without his knowledge and authority. (T. 46) He further admitted that there are circumstances under which he would do mail cover. Id. He has, in other cases, used it. Id.

Michael Price ("Mich Price") testified that he worked on the Booker case, first in his capacity as a police officer investigating the crime and, later, as an investigator for the State Attorney's office. (T. 75-76)

As an investigator, he would have picked up the mail and delivered it to the State Attorney. (T. 81)

Mr. Price identified the defense's exhibits as documents which he prepared in the course and scope of his duties as a State Attorney Investigator. Upon reviewing them, Price made it clear that mail cover was done in Appellant's case. (T. 79-80)

The record establishes that Price collected Appellant's mail.

(T. 81) It shows that Price took the mail to the State

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