IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEPHEN TODD BOOKER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-121

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In his motion, Booker failed to point to any record citations in support of his claim and failed to set forth any legal support for his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object.

The court denied Claim I as insufficiently pled but did so without prejudice. The collateral court granted Booker thirty days in which to amend Claim I. (PCR Vol. I 83-84). Booker never repled his allegations that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to any testimony, various prosecutorial arguments, or to the trial court's instruction regarding Ms. (PCR 87-89). Nor did Booker make any complaint that the collateral court judge did not revisit these allegations at second Huff hearing held on his amended Claim Nonetheless, Booker attempts to resurrect these shotgun claims of ineffective assistance of counsel before this Court appeal. (IB 33, 37).

Booker fails to cite to any record citation where these alleged objectionable non-statutory aggravators, comments, or instructions occurred or to present any argument in support of his claims. Issues raised in an appellate brief that contain no argument are deemed abandoned. Even if these allegations were properly before this Court on appeal, Booker has now abandoned them. Chamberlain v. State, 881 So.2d 1087,1103 (Fla. 2004); Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999) (finding that issues raised in appellate brief which contain no argument are deemed abandoned).

Within Claim I of his amended motion for post-conviction relief, Booker made various "shotgun" allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Booker alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony supporting "non-statutory aggravators," as well as various arguments made by the prosecution during closing argument. Booker also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object when the trial court instructed the jury it was not to consider Page Zymromski's testimony that Booker's remorse was genuine. (PCR Vol. I 14-15).

Booker also claimed that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present "available evidence of the full scope and extent of Mr. Booker's accomplishment as an influential figure on the national and international literary 'scene.'" Booker alleged that "numerous witnesses could have been called to explain to the jury Mr. Booker's accomplishment in this regard, as could exhibits of Mr. Booker's work which could have explained the person in a unique and powerful fashion." (PCR Vol. I 12). Booker faulted counsel for calling "white academics" who were ill-prepared and did not

testify as powerfully as to "Mr. Booker's voice as a black prisoner in America..." (PCR Vol. I 12).

Finally, Booker alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from Professor Hayden Carruth, an expert on Ezra Pound. Booker claims trial counsel should have questioned Professor Carruth on the fact that Ezra Pound faced the death penalty for treason, a crime Booker depicts as more onerous than his own. (PCR Vol. I 12-13).

Booker averred that Professor Carruth could explain that Ezra Pound was released, after being hospitalized as insane for 13 years, as a result of the intercession of other poets and because the State did not want to silence this unique and important artist. (PCR Vol. I 12-13). Booker claimed this

evidence, given the fact that Pound was permitted to give the "fascist salute as he sail[ed] back to Italy upon his release" and "William Burroughs playing William Tell with his wife, shoots her in the head and suffers no punishment", would provide the jury with evidence in contrast with the State's efforts to execute "blackman Poet Stephen Booker". (PCR Vol. I 14).16

The collateral court denied this claim as insufficiently pled. The collateral court ruled that Booker failed to comply with the dictates of <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 579, 582 (Fla. 2004), in presenting his claim.

The collateral court ruled that Booker failed to identify the witnesses he alleges trial counsel should have called, provide the substance of their testimony, explain how the omission of this evidence prejudiced the outcome of the case given the extensive mitigation that actually was presented, or allege the uncalled witnesses were available to testify at the time of trial.(PCR Vol. I 79-80) The Court granted Booker thirty days in which to amend his claim. (PCR Vol. I 80).

Hayden Carruth actually testified during Booker's second penalty phase proceedings but was not questioned on Ezra Pound. However, Dr. Stuart Friebert did testify about Ezra Pound. During his testimony, Dr. Friebert told the jury that Pound was prosecuted as a traitor but freed from prison as a result of the intercession of people who admired his poetry. (2PP Vol. XIV 1971).

Booker amended his claim. In doing so, Booker abandoned his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call "a variety of available witnesses who would testify to extensive mitigation regarding Mr. Booker's early life...", as Booker failed to amend this part of his claim to comport with the dictates of Nelson. (PCR Vol. I 11, 89). Likewise, Booker apparently abandoned his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to question Professor Carruth on Ezra Pound as Booker made no more mention of Professor Carruth in his amended pleading.

Instead, in his amended claim, Booker alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Henry Louis Gates, Cornell West, Rita Dove, Yuseph Koumanyaka, Amiri Baraka, and Stanley Crouch. Booker alleged, without elaboration, that these witnesses would have "educate[d] the jury on his [Booker's] contributions to the rich vein of American and international letters into which his work feeds and from which he has derived his theme." (PCR Vol. I 89).

Booker also alleged that "experts on Pound could have been called to show how and why he [Pound] was freed from a death sentence". (PCR Vol. I 89). Booker identified these witnesses

In 1945, Mr. Pound was arrested by U.S. forces for treason. He was ultimately declared unfit for trial, mentally

as Donald Hall, Noel Stock, Robert Crelley and "many others".

(PCR Vol. I 89). Booker claimed that at an evidentiary hearing he would call these or other experts to establish that trial counsel was ineffective and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the outcome of his case.

The collateral court denied this claim. The court ruled that during the penalty phase, trial counsel presented more than ample evidence of the Defendant's literary accomplishments while on death row. The collateral court observed it had placed little weight on this evidence and that any attempt to present additional and cumulative testimony would not have resulted in a life sentence. (PCR Vol. I 150).

Booker claims before this Court the collateral court erred in summarily denying this claim. This Court should affirm.

The collateral court initially ruled that, pursuant to Nelson, Booker's claim was entirely legally insufficient. In accord with this Court's guidance, the collateral court granted Booker thirty days in which to amend his claim. (PCR Vol. I 84).

Despite being given the opportunity to present a legally sufficient claim a second time, Booker failed to do so. Booker

ill and committed to St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C., until 1958. He returned to Europe and died in 1972.

not only failed to allege that any of the six uncalled literary witnesses would have been available to testify at Booker's second penalty phase proceedings in 1998, he failed to set forth the substance of any of these witnesses' testimony. In neglecting to do so, Booker failed to demonstrate how these witnesses' testimony would have been materially different from that of the six witnesses Booker actually did present. Similarly, Booker made no effort to explain how these different witnesses' testimony, given the ample "literary" mitigation evidence actually presented, probably would have resulted in a life sentence. (PCR Vol. I 88-89).

As to the three "Pound" witnesses, Booker failed to establish any relevance between Ezra Pound's release from a mental hospital some 40 years before Booker's second penalty phase proceedings and the jury's determination of whether to recommend that Booker be sentenced to death. As was the case for the first six witnesses that Booker claims counsel should have called, Booker failed to allege that any of the so-called "Pound witnesses" would have been available to testify at the time of Booker's second penalty phase proceedings.

Likewise, Booker failed to outline the actual substance of their testimony or explain how this omitted testimony probably

Unlike Mr. Booker, Mr. Pound was never convicted of a capital

would have produced a life sentence, especially in light of Professor Friebert's "Pound" testimony. In accord with this Court's decision in Nelson, the trial court acted properly in summarily denying this claim. Nelson v. State, 875 So.2d 579, 583-584 (Fla. 2004).

Even assuming, arguendo, that Booker's claim met the threshold requirements of Nelson, the trial court properly ruled these additional witnesses would be cumulative to the extensive "literary accomplishment" evidence that trial counsel presented during Booker's second penalty phase proceedings. Counsel does not render ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to present cumulative mitigation evidence. Jones v. State, 928 So.2d 1178, 1187 (Fla. 2006); Cole v. State, 841 So.2d 409, 425 (Fla. 2003) (holding that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance by failing to present cumulative evidence of drug and alcohol abuse and child abuse) (citing Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331, 1334-35 (Fla. 1997)).

By failing to allege the substance of each uncalled witnesses' testimony in more than a conclusory fashion and by omitting any comparison of the putative testimony of the uncalled witnesses to the testimony of the six literary scholars who testified before the jury at Booker's trial, Booker failed

crime and was never arrested nor convicted for rape and murder.

to meet his burden to show this evidence was not cumulative. In accord with this Court's decision in <u>Jones</u> that trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence, this Court should affirm the collateral court's order denying this claim. Jones v. State, 928 So.2d at 1187.

(c) Allegation regarding the Simmons claim.

In Claim III of his motion for post-conviction relief, Booker alleged the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on how long Booker would be in jail if given a life sentence. (PCR Vol. I 22-23). The collateral court denied his claim ruling that:

The Defendant's claim he was denied due process and equal protection when the trial court refused to instruct the jury regarding the consecutive sentences Booker received for his prior burglary, sexual battery, and aggravated assault convictions is denied. This claim has already been raised and rejected on direct appeal. Booker v. State, 773 So.2d 1079, 1087-1088 (Fla. 2000) (ruling that the Defendant's sentences for his prior burglary, sexual battery, and aggravated assault convictions were not relevant mitigation on the issue of whether he would actually remain in prison for the length of those sentences).

(PCR Vol. I 81).

Booker alleges before this Court that the collateral court erred in refusing to grant him an evidentiary hearing on this claim. To the contrary, the collateral court properly denied Booker's claim.

This claim is procedurally barred. On appeal from his second penalty phase, Booker alleged the trial court erred by refusing to inform the jury regarding the consecutive sentences Booker received for his prior burglary, sexual battery, and aggravated assault convictions.

This Court rejected Booker's claim on the merits. <u>Booker v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 1079, 1087-1088 (Fla. 2000). Claims that were raised and rejected on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings. <u>Hannon v. State</u>, 31 Fla.L.Weekly S539 (Fla. August 31, 2006) (ruling that Hannon's attack on the sufficiency of the evidence in support the HAC aggravator was procedurally barred because it was raised and rejected on direct appeal).

Additionally, this Court has rejected, on the merits, the same claim Booker makes here. Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544, 548 (Fla. 1993)(rejecting Gorby's claim that the jury must be instructed on the penalties for noncapital crimes for which the defendant has been convicted). This Court should affirm the collateral court's order summarily denying this claim.

(d) Allegation regarding the Crawford claim

In Claim V of his second amended motion for post-conviction relief, Booker alleged the trial court erred when it:

- (1) Introduced records demonstrating that Booker had been previously convicted of robbery and aggravated battery.
- (2) Permitted the State to read to the jury the testimony of Mrs. Frank Johnson and Mrs. W.K. Klinepeter, who testified, subject to cross-examination at Booker's first trial. 18
- (3) Permitted the "summation testimony" of David C.P. Smith, and,
- (4) Allowed Marvin Thomas' testimony that "involved" hearsay.

 $(PCR Vol. 1 29-30).^{19}$

The collateral court denied this claim. The Court ruled that:

The Defendant claims the State violated the dictates of <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004), when it introduced two prior judgments of convictions and sentences, the former testimony of unavailable witnesses Johnson and Klinepeter both of whom had been subject to cross-examination at Booker's first trial, and the testimony of David C.P. Smith. The Defendant has failed to demonstrate the evidence was admitted in violation of the dictates of <u>Crawford</u>. Accordingly, his claim is denied.

(PCR Vol. I 81-82).

Booker makes no claim of error in this appeal regarding the admission of Mrs. Johnson and Klinepeter's testimony. (IB 41)

 $^{\,^{19}\,}$ Booker makes no claim of error regarding Mr. Thomas' testimony in this appeal. (IB 41).

Booker devotes less than one page of his brief in presenting this issue to this Court. In making this token argument, Booker fails to point to any authority to support a finding that any of the testimony admitted at the second penalty phase falls within the ambit of <u>Crawford</u>. Additionally, as was the case in his second amended motion for post-conviction relief, Booker fails to point any evidence he would have presented at an evidentiary hearing in support of this purely legal claim. The collateral court correctly denied this claim.²⁰

(e) Allegation regarding the cruel and unusual claim

In Claim VI of his second amended motion for post-conviction relief, Booker alleged that executing him after twenty-seven years on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. (PCR Vol. I 22-23). The collateral court denied this claim, ruling that:

The Defendant's claim his twenty-seven-year incarceration on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment is denied. On direct appeal, the Defendant alleged that to execute him after he has already spent over two decades on death row would constitute cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. The Florida Supreme Court found this claim to be without merit. As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, this claim is procedurally

In any event, because this Court has found that <u>Crawford</u> is not retroactive to cases on collateral review, Booker is not entitled to relief on this claim. <u>Chandler v. Crosby</u>, 916 So.2d 728 (Fla. 2005).

barred. Even if this were not the case, the Defendant's claim is without merit. An extended stay on death row does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. Foster v. State, 810 So.2d 910, 916 (Fla.)cert denied, 537 U.S. 990 (2002).

(PCR Vol. I 82).

Booker alleges he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that executing him after nearly thirty years on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment and the collateral court judge erred in summarily denying his claim. Booker is not entitled to the relief he seeks.

This claim is procedurally barred. On appeal from his second penalty phase, Booker alleged that executing him after he has already spent over two decades on death row would constitute cruel and unusual punishment. This Court rejected this claim.

Booker v. State, 773 So.2d 1079, 1096 (Fla. 2000). Claims that were raised and rejected on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings. Hannon v. State, 31 Fla.L.Weekly S539 (Fla. August 31, 2006) (ruling that Hannon's attack on the sufficiency of the evidence in support the HAC aggravator was procedurally barred because it was raised and rejected on direct appeal).

Additionally, this Court has repeatedly rejected, on the merits, the same claim Booker makes here. <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 57 (Fla. 2005); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 841 So.2d 380, 389 (Fla.

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